MAY 3 0 2012

Frederick K. Uninch Clerk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RAYMOND MARTINEZ AND GLORIA MARTINEZ, Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

BROWNCO CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC., Defendant, Appellant and Petitioner.

After a decision of the Court of Appeal for the State of California
Second Appellate District, Division One
Case Number B226665
On Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles
The Honorable Elihu Berle, Case No. KC050128

#### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LINDAHL BECK LLP
George M. Lindahl (SBN 061905)
Laura H. Huntley (SBN 166119)
660 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 1500
Los Angeles, CA 90017-3457
Tel. (213) 488-3900

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

(continued)

#### Page(s) **State Statutes** Civil Code §3291 .....passim Code of Civil Procedure §997.....passim Code of Civil Procedure §998.....passim **Other Authorities** § 43; 1 Corbin on Contracts (rev. ed. 1993) § 2.20, pp. 226-227 ...... 16, 17, 18 Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 1814 (1971-1972 Reg. Sess.) James S. Reid, State Bar, Analysis and Discussion re Assem. Bill No. 1814 Sen. Bill No. 203, approved by Governor, April 6, 1982, Sen. Final Hist. (1981-Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Sen. Bill 1324 (1993-1994 Reg. Sess.) May 27, 1994, p.2, at <a href="http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/93-94/bill/sen/sb">http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/93-94/bill/sen/sb</a> 1301-

#### II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

The Second Appellate District, Division 1, held in its certified for publication opinion in *Raymond and Gloria Martinez v. Brownco Construction Company, Inc.* (hereinafter *Martinez*) that where a plaintiff serves a series of offers to compromise under Code of Civil Procedure Section 998, each new offer does not extinguish the preceding offer and, consequently, the offer made last in time is not necessarily the operative offer for purposes of the cost-shifting provisions of Section 998(c). Based upon the rationale employed by the Second Appellate District, Division 1, a plaintiff may delve back in time to any Section 998 offer made during the pendency of the lawsuit that was met or exceeded in its efforts to shift expert fees and costs to a defendant under Section 998(c).

The recent decision in *Martinez*, is in direct conflict with each of the previous appellate decisions to address this issue. *See*, *Wilson v*. *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 72 Cal.App.4th 382, 392 (1999); *Palmer v*. *Schindler Elevator Operation*, 108 Cal.App.4th 154, 157 (2003); *Distefano v. Hall*, 263 Cal.App.2d 380, 385 (1968); *One Star, Inc. v. Staar Surgical Company*, 179 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1082, 1089 (2009). Each of these previous published decisions embraced the long-standing legal principal that where successive Section 998 offers are made, the earlier offers are extinguished by service of a subsequent offer. *See*, *Wilson*, 72 Cal.App.4th at 392; *Distefano*, 263 Cal.App.2d at 385; *Palmer*, 108 Cal.App.4th at 157; *One* 

Star, 179 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1089. Each of these decisions relied, in whole or part, on the decision in *T. M. Cobb Co. v. Superior Court*, 36 Cal.3d 273, 279 (1984), wherein this Court held because "... section 998 involves the process of settlement and compromise and [,] since this process is a contractual one, it is appropriate for contract law principles to govern the offer and acceptance process under Section 998."

In establishing and promulgating the well-established rule that where successive Section 998 offers are made, the earlier offers are extinguished by service of a subsequent offer, the Courts of Appeal in Wilson, Distefano, Palmer and One Star weighed several important factors. First, the Courts considered general principles of contract law because "the theory of section [998] is that the process of settlement and compromise is a contractual one, and the applicable principles are those relating to contracts in general [citation]." Distefano, supra, 263 Cal.App.2d at 385; Palmer, supra, 108 Cal. App. 4th at 159. Second, the Courts considered the purpose of Section 998 which is to "encourage the settlement of lawsuits prior to trial [citations]." T.M. Cobb, supra, 36 Cal.3d at 279; Distefano, supra, 263 Cal.App.2d at 385; Wilson, supra, 72 Cal.App.4th at 391; Palmer, supra, 108 Cal.App.4th at 158; One Star, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at 1093-1094. As a corollary, the Courts considered the potential for gamesmanship and manipulation of the cost-shifting provisions of Section 998(a) if subsequent offers were not held to extinguish prior offers. Wilson, supra, 72 Cal.App.4th at 391; Palmer, supra, 108 Cal.App.4th at 158; One Star, supra, 179 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1095. Finally, the Courts considered the preference for "bright line" rules given the punitive nature of the costshifting provisions of Section 998. Distefano, supra, 263 Cal.App.2d at 385; Wilson, supra, 72 Cal.App.4th at 391; Palmer, supra, 108 Cal.App.4th at 158; One Star, supra, 179 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1094-1095. After weighing the forgoing considerations, the Courts of Appeal in Wilson, Distefano, and Palmer concluded that the rule which would best serve all interests and was consistent with the legislative intent is the rule that where successive Section 998 offers are made, the earlier offers are extinguished by service of a subsequent offer. Distefano, supra, 263 Cal.App.2d at 385; Wilson, supra, 72 Cal.App.4th at 389-391; Palmer, supra, 108 Cal.App.4th at 158.

In addition to the factors considered by the Courts of Appeal, the legislative history of Section 998, its predecessor, former Section 997, and Civil Code Section 3291 reflect that the legislature has embraced and accepted the judiciary's long-standing construction of Section 998 that where successive offers are made, the earlier offers are extinguished by service of a subsequent offer.<sup>1</sup>

See, James S. Reid, State Bar, Analysis and Discussion re Assem. Bill No. 1814 (1971-1972 Reg. Sess.), Sen. Com. on Judiciary bill files; Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 1814 (1971-1972 Reg. Sess.) June 21, 1971, p. 1., Sen. Com. on Judiciary bill files; Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Sen. Bill 1324 (1993-1994 Reg. Sess.) May 27, 1994, p.2, at

In stark contrast, the new rule developed by the Second Appellate District, Division 1 in *Martinez* is inconsistent with well-settled tenets of statutory construction and is in direct conflict with the legislative history of Section 998, its predecessor, former Section 997, and Civil Code Section 3291. Moreover, the rule proffered by the Second Appellate District, Division 1 undermines the legislative purpose of Section 998 of encouraging pretrial settlement. In addition, the new rule promulgated by the Second Appellate District, Division 1 is fatally uncertain and encourages gamesmanship and manipulation of the provisions of Section 998.

As a consequence, it is incumbent on this Court to endorse and adopt the long-standing, well-reasoned rule that where a party serves a series of offers to compromise under Section 998 each succeeding offer extinguishes and supersedes the prior offer such that the offer made last in time is the operative offer for purposes of the cost-shifting provisions of Section 998(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/93-94/bill/sen/sb\_1301-1350/sb\_1324\_cfa\_940527\_171615\_sen\_floor">http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/93-94/bill/sen/sb\_1301-1350/sb\_1324\_cfa\_940527\_171615\_sen\_floor</a>; Sen. Bill No. 203, approved by Governor, April 6, 1982, Sen. Final Hist. (1981-1982 Reg. Sess.) p. 147.

#### III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Raymond Martinez was injured when an electrical panel he and a co-worker were dismantling at the Saint-Gobain Calmar factory in Industry, California exploded on June 2, 2005. [Joint Appendix submitted in conjunction with Appellant's Opening brief, below (hereinafter "JA") 002.] On March 1, 2007, Raymond Martinez filed the present action against Brownco for personal injuries he sustained in the June 2, 2005 incident contending that metal dust from Brownco's demolition work caused the electrical panel to explode. [JA 001.] His wife, Gloria Martinez, also claimed loss of consortium. [JA 007-008.] Brownco disputed the Martinez's claims and asserted that the explosion was caused when Raymond Martinez and his co-worker left an un-taped copper wire hanging loose in an electrified panel while they were working on it. [JA 010-015, 581, 592.] Brownco answered the Complaint on May 18, 2007. [JA 010-015.]

On August 30, 2007, a mere three months after Brownco answered the Complaint, Raymond Martinez served Brownco with a Section 998 offer to compromise in the amount of \$4,750,000. [JA 114-116.] Gloria Martinez concurrently served a Section 998 offer to compromise her loss of consortium claim for \$250,000. [JA 110-112.] These combined offers constituted a collective demand for Brownco's \$5,000,000 insurance policy limits. At that juncture, all that was known

about the accident was that Raymond Martinez had initially suffered a significant burn injury at a location where Brownco had been performing demolition activities. [JA 001-009, 110-112, 114-116, 592.] In fact, as of the time the Section 998 offers were served Brownco's experts had not yet even had an opportunity to examine the electrical panel that was involved in the accident. [JA 592.]

Two and a half years later, on the eve of trial, Raymond Martinez served Brownco with a dramatically reduced Section 998 offer to compromise in the amount of \$1,500,000. [JA 102-104.] Gloria Martinez concurrently served a Section 998 offer to compromise her loss of consortium claim for \$100,000. [JA 106-108.] These offers, in the collective amount of \$1,600,000, represented a 68% reduction of the Martinezes' prior Section 998 offers to compromise. [JA 102-108, 110-116.]

On March 29, 2010, the jury rendered a compromise verdict finding Raymond Martinez 10% at fault, his employer Saint-Gobain Calmar 40% at fault and Brownco 50% at fault for the June 5, 2005 accident. [JA 042-045.] The trial court entered judgment on the special verdict on June 15, 2010. [JA 046-050.] The net judgment in favor of Raymond Martinez was \$1,646,674. [JA 49.] The net judgment in favor of Gloria Martinez was \$250,000. [JA 49.]

Following entry of the judgment, Raymond and Gloria Martinez jointly filed a Memorandum of Costs seeking to recover \$561,257.14 in litigation costs and expert fees. [JA 051.] On July 13, 2010, Brownco filed a Motion to Tax Costs. [JA 075-324.] Brownco moved to tax the expert fees plaintiffs paid to Brownco's experts as each of these experts was deposed prior to Raymond Martinez's February 8, 2010 Section 998 Demand. [JA 076-077, 083-087.] Brownco moved to tax the fees paid to 14 expert witnesses Raymond Martinez utilized during the pendency of the action to the extent that these fees (1) were incurred prior to prior to Raymond Martinez's February 8, 2010 C.C.P §998 Demand and (2) were not reasonably necessary to the conduct of the litigation nor reasonable in amount pursuant to C.C.P. §1033.5(c) as certain of the experts were not utilized at trial (Eskridge, Barden, Grossman and Simons). [JA 077, 088-091.]

On August 10, 2010, Brownco's Motion to Tax came on for hearing before the Honorable Elihu Berle. [JA 620-621; Reporter's Transcript of Hearing on Brownco's Motion to Tax Costs ("RT") 1-44.]

Judge Berle taxed the expert fees claimed in the amount of \$188,536.86, allowing only the \$64,577.45 incurred after Raymond Martinez's February 8, 2010 Section 998 Demand. [JA 620.] Judge Berle also taxed the expert fees claimed for taking the depositions of Brownco's experts in the amount of \$10,609.90. [JA 620.] Relying on the decision in *Wilson v. Wal-Mart* 

Stores, Inc., 72 Cal.App.4th 382 (1999), the trial court held that Gloria Martinez could not recover expert fees incurred between August 30, 2007 and February 8, 2010 because her second offer to compromise extinguished her prior offer for purposes of the cost-shifting provisions of Section 998(c). [RT 37-39.] The court issued its Minute Order on the Motion to Tax Costs on August 10, 2010. [JA 620-621.] The August 10, 2010 Minute Order contained some minor errors which were corrected by Nunc Pro Tunc Order dated October 5, 2010. [JA 628-629.] On that same date, October 5, 2010, the Court executed the Order for Judgment on Costs. [JA 630-632.]

On September 14, 2010 Brownco filed its Notice of Appeal of the Order on its Motion to Tax Costs (on issues not raised by its Petition for Review). [JA 622-624.] On September 29, 2010, Raymond and Gloria Martinez filed their Notice of Cross-Appeal of the Order on the Motion to Tax Costs disputing the taxing of expert fees and costs incurred prior to February 8, 2010. [JA 632-634.]

On February 10, 2012, the Second Appellate District,

Division 1, issued a published decision which, in part, reversed the trial court's order taxing the expert fees incurred prior to February 8, 2010.

[Exhibit "1" to Brownco's Petition for Review.]

#### IV. <u>LEGAL DISCUSSION</u>

# A. The Rules of Statutory Construction and Legislative History Compel the Construction and Application of Section 998 Embraced in the Wilson Line of Authorities

As noted by this Court in T.M. Cobb, supra, "[t]he fundamental rule of statutory construction is that the court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citations.]" 36 Cal.3d at 340. "In determining such intent, the court must first look to the words of the statute." Id. "When an examination of statutory language in its proper context fails to resolve an ambiguity, courts turn to secondary rules of interpretation, such as maxims of construction, which serve as aids in the sense that they express familiar insights about conventional language usage. [Citations.] Courts also may turn to the legislative history of an enactment as an aid to its interpretation. [Citations.] 'Both the legislative history of the statute and the wider historical circumstances of its enactment may be considered in ascertaining the legislative intent. [Citations.]" Katz v. Los Gatos-Saratoga Joint Union High School District, 117 Cal.App.4th 47, 55 (2004). Moreover, Government Code Section 9080 specifically provides "(a) The Legislature finds and declares that legislative records relating to bills, resolutions, or proposed constitutional amendments before the Legislature provide

evidence of legislative intent that may be important in the subsequent interpretation of laws enacted in the Legislature."

Here, the plain language of Section 998 is silent with respect to the effect of a subsequent offer on earlier offer to compromise under Section 998. As a consequence, this Court and the Courts of Appeal in Wilson, Distefano, Palmer, and One Star turned to principals of contract law for guidance in applying Section 998. Specifically, this Court has held that because "... section 998 involves the process of settlement and compromise and [,] since this process is a contractual one, it is appropriate for contract law principles to govern the offer and acceptance process under section 998." T. M. Cobb, supra, 36 Cal.3d at 279. In T. M. Cobb Co., this Court specifically described the question of whether a subsequent statutory offer extinguishes a prior offer as one that "can only be answered by turning to general principles of contract law," citing with approval the decision in Distefano, supra, 36 Cal.3d 380. In so holding, this Court concluded that invoking principles of contract law in applying Section 998 would promote the purpose of Section 998 of encouraging pre-trial settlement. Id. at 280-283. In each subsequent published decision to address the effect of a later offer to compromise under Section 998 on a

prior offer for cost-shifting purposes, California appellate courts have uniformly turned to principals of contract law for guidance.<sup>2</sup>

In Distefano, the Court of Appeal was confronted with a factual scenario wherein defendants made a series of offers to compromise under former Code of Civil Procedure §997.3 36 Cal.3d 380. In Distefano, the defendants made their first statutory offer to compromise (in the amount of \$20,000) before the first trial conducted in the case. This offer was not accepted. Four years later, they made a second statutory offer to compromise (in the amount of \$10,000) prior to the retrial. 263 Cal.App.2d at 384-385. The judgment in plaintiff's favor on retrial was greater than defendants' second offer, but less than the defendants' first offer. Id. at p. 383. On appeal, the defendants sought to invoke the predecessor statute to section 998, arguing that "... when plaintiff refused to accept their first offer, they acquired a vested right to avoid paying plaintiff's costs in the event his verdict was less than" the amount of the first offer. Id. at p. 384. The Court of Appeal disagreed stating:

> We agree that the Legislature enacted section 997 of the Code of Civil Procedure for the purpose of encouraging the settlement of litigation without trial

See, Wilson, supra, 72 Cal.App.4th at 392; Palmer, supra, 108 Cal.App.4th at 157; One Star, supra, 179 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1089.

Section 998, enacted in 1971, replaced Section 997 which was the operative statute in *Distefano*.

(Bennett v. Brown, 212 Cal.App.2d 685, 688 (1963) [28 Cal.Rptr. 485]). But we cannot attribute to the Legislature an intention to give less than full effect to the parties' reappraisals of the merits of their respective positions where a case has been tried, appealed and reversed for retrial. Under such circumstances, an offer of compromise made before the second trial pursuant to section 997 should clearly supersede that made before the first trial. To deny the parties this flexibility would actually discourage settlements and defeat the very purpose of the act. Furthermore, the theory of section 997 is that the process of settlement and compromise is a contractual one, and the applicable principles are those relating to contracts in general (11 Cal.Jur.2d, § 2, p. 3). The trial court's reasoning here is in accord with the general rules on offers-any new offer communicated prior to a valid acceptance of a previous offer, extinguishes and replaces the prior one (Long v. Chronicle Publishing Co., 68 Cal.App. 171 (1924).

*Id.* at 385 [emphasis added]. The foregoing reasoning was expressly approved by this Court in *T.M. Cobb.* 36 Cal.3d at 279.

In Wilson, supra, the court of appeal applied the reasoning in T. M. Cobb Co. and Distefano, to factual circumstances near identical to the facts presented in Martinez and reaffirmed that where successive Section 998 offers are made, the earlier offers are extinguished by service of the subsequent offer. 72 Cal.App.4th 382. In Wilson, a personal injury plaintiff served an initial Section 998 offer to compromise in the amount of \$150,000. Id. at 387. This offer was not accepted and was "withdrawn" by operation of law pursuant to Section 998(b)(2). Approximately 16 months later, the plaintiff served a second Section 998 offer to compromise in the amount of \$249,000. Id. At trial, the jury rendered a verdict in favor of plaintiff in the amount of \$175,000. Id. Following the verdict, the plaintiff in Wilson sought to recover her expert fees arguing that her "first Section 998 offer is controlling for all purposes." Id. at 388. The Court of Appeal disagreed stating that it found the above-cited reasoning in Distefano, supra, both persuasive and applicable to the matter before it. Id. at 390.

To those ends, the court in *Wilson* discussed the holding in *Distefano* that a second offer to compromise should supersede the earlier offer stating:

We find the reasoning of *Distefano* persuasive and applicable to the instant action. *Distefano* recognizes that which Wilson overlooks; there is an evolutionary aspect to lawsuits and the law, in fairness, must allow

the parties the opportunity to review their respective positions as the lawsuit matures. The litigants should be given a chance to learn the facts that underlie the dispute and consider how the law applies before they are asked to make a decision that, if made incorrectly, could add significantly to their costs of trial.

Id. at 390.

The record below is clear that Martinezes engaged in precisely the type of reappraisal contemplated by the court in *Distefano* and acknowledged in *Wilson*. In *Martinez*, Gloria Martinez served her initial Section 998 offer to compromise a mere three months after Brownco answered the Complaint. [JA 010-015, 110-112.] This offer was served concurrently with her husband's Section 998 offer to compromise in the amount of \$4,750,000. [JA 114-116.] While Gloria and Raymond Martinez served separate offers as is required to be effective under Section 998, their concurrent offers were collectively a demand to settle the entire action for \$5,000,000 – Brownco's insurance policy limits. [JA 110-112, 114-116.]

Over the ensuing 2 ½ years, the landscape of the case altered significantly. Raymond Martinez had a very favorable recovery and significant issues related to causation and Brownco's potential culpability became apparent. [RA 11:9-14, 23:4-10; JA 381-382.] As a consequence,

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