Supreme Court Case No. S200944 2nd Appellate District Civil No. B226665

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT

JUN 2 8 2012

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

RAYMOND MARTINEZ AND GLORIA MARTINEZ, Plaintiffs, Respondents, and Cross-Appellants,

VS.

BROWNCO CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. Defendant, Appellant, and Respondent.

After a decision of the Court of Appeal for the State of California Second Appellate District, Division One Case Number B226665 On Appeal From the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. KC 050128, The Honorable Elihu Berle

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

statute, which is to encourage settlement. "To deny her the benefit of making the first offer simply because she made a later offer would actually discourage her making the later offer, and thus discourage settlement."

Martinez, 203 Cal. App.4th at 522.

Brownco argues that *Martinez* is inconsistent with a number of other California appellate decisions, and that the proper rule, as set forth in those cases, is that subsequent *section 998* offers extinguish earlier *section 998* offers.

This Court seemingly has three ways in which to decide this appeal. This Court can affirm *Martinez*, and rule that a party who makes two or more valid *section 998* offers, and equals or beats one or more of those offers at trial, is entitled to enhanced costs from the date of the earliest reasonable equaled or beaten offer; thereby disapproving the subsequent offer rule. Gloria Martinez would be entitled to enhanced costs from the date of her first offer.

Alternatively, this Court can reverse *Martinez* and rule that subsequent offers extinguish earlier ones, and therefore Gloria Martinez is only entitled to enhanced costs from the date of her second offer.

A third alternative, which Gloria Martinez advocated in the underlying appeal, is available. This Court can rule that a plaintiff who

makes multiple *declining* offers to compromise is entitled to enhanced costs from the date of the earliest equaled or beaten offer. The same would apply to a defendant making *increasing* offers to compromise. In those situations, the additional offers increase the prospects of settling by making settlement more appealing to the other side. Under that rule, Gloria Martinez would be entitled to enhanced costs from the date of her first offer.

Martinez should be affirmed. This Court should disapprove the subsequent offer rule and hold that enhanced costs are available from the date of the earliest reasonable offer equaled or beaten.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Raymond Martinez was injured in a 2005 electrical explosion at a factory owned and operated by his employer, Saint-Gobain Calmar.

Raymond Martinez was seriously injured in the explosion and sued Brownco for personal injuries. Gloria Martinez sued for loss of consortium. [Appendix. Vol. I pp.1-9]

B. Procedural History

The Martinezes filed the lawsuit in March 2007. [App. Vol I, pp. 1-9] Brownco disputed the claim and asserted that the explosion was caused by the negligence of Martinez and his co-worker. Brownco answered the

complaint in May 2007. [App. Vol. I, pp. 10-15]

Saint-Gobain joined the action as plaintiff-in-intervention to protect its claim for reimbursement for the worker's compensation benefits it paid to Raymond Martinez.

The case went to trial before a jury in February 2010. Trial commenced on February 18, 2010 when counsel made their opening statements. On March 29, 2010, the jury returned a special verdict in favor of Raymond and Gloria Martinez for \$3,714,832, finding that Brownco was responsible for 50% of the harm caused to Raymond, while Raymond was 10% responsible and Saint-Gobain was 40% responsible. [App. Vol. I, pp. 42-45] The net judgment in favor of Raymond Martinez was \$1,646,674. In addition, judgment was entered in favor of Gloria Martinez on her loss of consortium claim for \$250,000. [App. Vol. I, pp. 46-50]

This appeal is concerned solely with the effect of Gloria Martinez's two section 998 offers to compromise made prior to trial. Gloria and Raymond both served section 998 offers on August 30, 2007, five months after the case had been filed and more than two years before trial commenced. Raymond Martinez offered to settle his claim for \$4,750,000. Gloria Martinez offered to settle her claim for \$250,000. Brownco did not accept either offer, and the offers were thereby withdrawn by operation of

law after the statutory 30-day period passed. [App. Vol. III, p.348 \P 3; Vol III, pp. 388-390]; *CCP* §998(b)(2).

Raymond and Gloria Martinez served Brownco with their second offers on February 8, 2010, ten days before counsel made their opening statements. Raymond Martinez offered to settle his claim for \$1,500,000. Gloria Martinez offered to settle her claim for \$100,000. These second offers were deemed withdrawn by operation of law when they had not been accepted before plaintiffs' opening statement commenced on February 18. [App. Vol. III, p.348 ¶4; Vol. III, pp. 392-394]

The judgment in favor of Raymond Martinez (\$1,646,674 plus costs) was greater than his second offer to compromise. The judgment in favor of Gloria Martinez (\$250,000 plus costs) matched her first (August 30, 2007) offer and beat her second offer.

Following entry of judgment, the Martinezes timely filed a Memorandum of Costs seeking \$561,257.14 in costs and expert fees. [App. Vol. I, pp. 51-62] Brownco timely filed a motion to tax costs. For purposes of this appeal, the relevant portion of Brownco's motion to tax sought an order disallowing Gloria Martinez's recovery of fees paid to experts (\$188,536.86) incurred prior to her February 8, 2010 offer to compromise. [App. Vol. II, pp. 75-324, specifically, pp. 75-80] The Martinezes opposed

the motion to tax and submitted declarations of counsel in support of their cost claims. [App. Vol. II, pp. 325-346; Vol. III, pp. 347-579] Brownco replied. [App. Vol III, pp. 580-619]

On August 10, 2010, the court entered an order taxing certain costs and allowing the Martinezes' total costs of \$348,571.98. [App. Vol. III. pp. 620-621]¹ The court applied the subsequent offer rule and taxed (disallowed) the \$188,536.86 Gloria Martinez sought to recover for expert fees incurred prior to her second offer to compromise.

Both Brownco and Martinez timely appealed the order on the motion to tax costs. Brownco appealed an issue not raised here (the order allowing plaintiffs to recover the costs of a Power Point presentation used during closing argument). Martinez cross-appealed the issue of the disallowed expert fees incurred after Gloria Martinez's first section 998 offer but prior to her second section 998 offer.

On February 10, 2012, the Second Appellate District reversed the trial court's order taxing the expert fees incurred prior to February 8, 2010 (but subsequent to August 30, 2007 – the date of the first offer to

The Minute Order was later amended *nunc pro tunc* to correct mathematical errors in ways that do not affect the issues on appeal. [App. Vol. IV, pp. 635-636]. The parties also subsequently stipulated to correction of other mathematical errors. Those corrections do affect the issue on this appeal.

compromise). Brownco timely sought review from this Court.

III. DISCUSSION

Section 998 means exactly what it says: when a section 998 offer is made and the offeree fails to obtain a more favorable result in judgment or award, the offeror is entitled to enhanced costs. A subsequent section 998 offer does not extinguish an earlier one nor does it deprive the offeror of the benefits of having made an earlier offer. The costs incurred after the early section 998 offer are real, often substantial, and could have been avoided had the offer been accepted. By making those costs recoverable, section 998 encourages settlement.

The contrary rule, advanced by Brownco and adopted by several appellate courts, punishes a party for making more than one offer to compromise; thereby reducing the incentive to make the offers and reducing the prospects of settlement. This Court should affirm *Martinez* and disapprove the contrary appellate decisions.

A. Section 998 is Properly Interpreted to Offer Enhanced Costs

to Any Party Who Makes a Valid Offer that is Equaled or

Beaten by Judgment or Award

Section 998 provides, in pertinent part:

"(d) If an offer made by plaintiff is not accepted and the

defendant fails to obtain a more favorable judgment or award ... the court ..., in its discretion, may require the defendant to pay a reasonable sum to cover postoffer costs of the services of expert witnesses...actually incurred and reasonably necessary in either, or both, preparation for trial or arbitration, or during trial or arbitration, of the case by the plaintiff, in addition to plaintiff's costs."²

Brownco wants this Court to impose an exception to that rule and graft onto the statute language akin to: "unless plaintiff makes a subsequent offer in which case costs are recoverable from the date of the last offer." Or to replace the phrase "postoffer costs" with "costs incurred from the date of the last offer." In fairness to Brownco, several appellate decisions have either done just that or have implicitly approved of such an exception. See Wilson v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 382; Palmer v.

²

As for defense offers, the statute provides: "If an offer made by a defendant is not accepted and the plaintiff fails to obtain a more favorable judgment or award, the plaintiff may not recover his or her postoffer costs and shall pay the defendant's costs from the time of the offer. In addition, in any action or proceeding..., the court..., in its discretion, may require the plaintiff to pay a reasonable sum to cover costs of the services of expert witnesses...actually incurred and reasonable necessary in either, or both, preparation for trial or arbitration, or during trial or arbitration, of the case by the defendant. $CCP \S 998(c)(1)$

Schindler Elevator Corp. (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 154; Distefano v. Hall (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 380; One Star, Inc. v. Staar Surgical Company, (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 1082. Simplistically stated, those cases, using general contract law, conclude that each successive offer extinguishes all earlier offers.

Martinez disagreed and broadly held that "[w]here a party makes two section 998 offers to compromise more than 30 days apart, the purpose of section 998 is adequately served by the statute's existing language, which entitles an offeror to cost shifting from the date of the earliest reasonable offer." Martinez, 203 Cal.App.4th at 523.

Statutes are interpreted first by reading the statutory language. A clear and unambiguous statute is given its plain meaning so long as a literal interpretation is consistent with the statute's purpose. *Bodell Construction Co. v. Trustees of Cal. State University* (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1515-1516.

The primary purpose of section 998 is to encourage settlement, thereby saving the expense and burden of trial. While general contract principles are useful in interpreting section 998, those principles should not be applied in a way that conflicts with or defeats the statute's purpose.

"[T]he clear purpose of section 998 is to encourage the

settlement of lawsuits prior to trial [and] ... general contract law principles should apply to section 998 offers and acceptances only where such principles neither conflict with nor defeat its purpose."

T.M. Cobb Co v. Sup. Ct. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 273, 280; see Poster v. Southern California Rapid Transit District Wilson (1990) 52 Cal.3d 266, 270 ("Section 998 clearly reflects this state's policy of encouraging settlements.").

Section 998 encourages settlement by holding out a carrot and stick. The "carrot" is the opportunity that the offeror may recover enhanced costs. The "stick" is the threat to the offeree of enhanced penalties. In Bank of San Pedro v. Sup. Ct. (Goodstein) (1992) 3 Cal.4th 797, 804, this Court explained:

"[T]he policy behind section 998 ... is plain. It is to encourage settlement by providing a strong financial disincentive to a party—whether it be plaintiff or a defendant—who fails to achieve a better result than that party could have achieved by accepting his or her opponent's settlement offer. (This is the stick. The carrot is that by awarding costs to the putative settlor the statute provides a

financial incentive to make reasonable settlement offers.)"

See also Bodell, 62 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1525 ("[T]he clear purpose of section 998 is to encourage settlement of lawsuits prior to trial, and penalize litigants who fail to accept what, in retrospect, is determined to be a reasonable settlement."); Culbertson v. R. D. Werner Co., Inc., (1987) 190

Cal. App. 3d 704, 711 ("It is well settled that the purpose of this section is to encourage the settlement of litigation without trial. Its effect is to punish the plaintiff who fails to accept a reasonable offer from a defendant." [and visa versa]).

The statute's purpose is not advanced by making the carrot a little less tasty and the stick less threatening. But that is what happens if each subsequent offer extinguishes previous offers: potentially recoverable costs get smaller and smaller as actual costs expended get larger and larger. Parties will think twice about making a later subsequent offer if, by doing so, they risk losing all of the enhanced costs accumulated from the date of the earlier offer.

Brownco argues that a party will make that subsequent offer even with the risk of losing earlier incurred costs if that party, in reevaluating its case, believes that it cannot equal or beat the earlier offer and wants any shot at recovering enhanced costs. After all, Brownco argues, that is what

the Martinezes did. True enough as far as it goes, but more often than not a party cannot predict the final outcome, and may still be interested in using the *section 998* procedure and its carrot and stick to prompt a late settlement. The subsequent offer rule acts as a deterrent to using the *section 998* procedure the second time around.

Wilson, 72 Cal.App.4th 382³ and the other decisions that adopt the subsequent offer rule get there by applying contract law to section 998.

Those decisions rely upon T.M. Cobb Co v. Sup. Ct. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 273, which applied contract rules applicable to offers and acceptances in a different section 998 situation.

In Cobb, this Court held that section 998 offers are not irrevocable.

Section 998 really is silent as to whether offers can be revoked so this is a question that cannot be answered by reading the statute's language. Section 998 provides that offers are withdrawn after 30 days (or earlier if made shortly before trial) but simply does not address whether they can be revoked within that thirty day period.

In Wilson plaintiff's second section 998 offer was greater than the first offer and the plaintiff beat only the lesser and first offer. Plaintiff argued that, nonetheless, it should recover its section 998 costs because it beat the first offer. The court disagreed, and adopted the contract law reasoning set forth in Distefano, 263 Cal.App.2d 380 that the second offer extinguished the first.

Cobb applied the "well-established principle of contract law that an offer may be revoked by the offeror any time prior to acceptance." Cobb, 36 Cal.3d at 278. Cobb approvingly cites Distefano v. Hall (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 380 for the proposition that contract law should be applied to section 998. Distefano is one of the decisions that adopts the subsequent offer rule. Cobb further states that "[Section 998] does [not] address the effect of a subsequent statutory offer on a prior statutory offer. These questions can only be answered by turning to general principles of contract law." Cobb, 36 Cal.3d at 279.

Cobb also disapprovingly cites Gallagher v. Heritage (1983) 144

Cal.App.3d 546 insofar as that decision stated that "when an acceptance has not been effected [pursuant to section 998], contract law has no applicability." Cobb 36 Cal.3d at 279-280. In Gallagher, the court held that a subsequent non-statutory oral offer of settlement does not extinguish the statutory offers. Gallagher also stated that a second section 998 offer

In *Distefano*, defendant made successive and declining offers of compromise, but the first was made prior to the first trial and the second was made after appeal and before retrial. Neither offer was accepted and plaintiff recovered an amount that was greater than the second offer but less than the first. The court held that the second offer revoked the first and that therefore plaintiff was not required to pay the augmented costs then available under predecessor statute, *section 997*.

"compels no different conclusion." Gallagher 144 Cal.App.3d at 550.

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